1951

# Marcella Jensen Tuttle and Richard Dale Tuttle v. Pacific Intermountain Express and Heath H. Cornette : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

This action was brought by Marcella Jensen Tuttle and Richard Dale Tuttle, the widow and minor child, respectively, of Dale Tuttle, deceased, to recover damages for his death resulting from an automobile collision which occurred January 15, 1949 at about 8:30 P.M. on the main highway, U. S. 91, between Provo and Springville.



At the scene of the accident the highway has four marked paved lanes with gravel shoulders, and runs southeasterly, substantially straight, although turning slightly to the left or east as one proceeds toward Springville. The scene of the accident was illustrated by two drawings, Exhibits FF and GG, a substantial duplicate of which is hereafter inserted.

Snowplows had cleared the road, leaving snowbanks on the shoulders. Packed snow covered the center lanes, the outer lanes being substantially cleared by the traffic, as shown by the pictures, Exhibits 11, 7, 5, and 6.

Defendant Heath H. Cornette was driving a large tractor and trailer for the Pacific Intermountain Express. He left Provo going south, travelling in the lane of traffic next west of the center. His speed was estimated at from 40 to something slightly in excess of 50 miles per hour. Just after passing Lou's Place (located on the west side of the highway) he, Cornette, undertook to pass two passenger cars travelling in the same direction in the west lane of traffic. After sounding his horn and blinking his lights to indicate his intention to pass he succeeded in overtaking the first car driven by Claudius E. Stevenson. Continuing to sound his horn he was about to pass the second car, a blue Plymouth driven by deceased, when the latter suddenly and without giving any warning turned left into the center lane as though making a U turn immediately in front of defendants' truck, where it was struck broadside (see picture Exhibits 3 and 4). Defendants' rig jack-knifed as it and deceased's car skidded across the highway onto the east side, where

a telephone pole was struck, causing electric wires to drop to the pavement and flash as described by the several witnesses hereinafter mentioned.

The foregoing facts are established by disinterested eye-witnesses, as well as defendants' driver. Their testimony is corroborated by the physical evidence.

Contrary to the foregoing facts, and in an obvious effort to avoid the effects of deceased's own negligence, plaintiffs' counsel set out in the beginning to allege and prove that deceased was traveling north upon the highway, rather than southerly.

In a desperate effort to establish some grounds of liability, numerous allegations of negligence, numbered "a" to "m," inclusive, were made in the original and supplemental complaint. (Tr. 6-11). At no time were any of these mere allegations of negligence connected up with the accident or any proof made that any alleged claim of negligence was a *proximate cause of the collision*. In fact plaintiffs' theory of liability is, and was from the beginning, based upon an entirely false assumption of fact, *namely, that deceased was travelling north when in fact his course of travel was toward the south*.

The numerous unfounded allegations of negligence (several of which were repetitious and should have been stricken, on motion duly made by defendants) (Tr. 14-15), together with the inconceivable number of plaintiffs' requested instructions—45 in all—(Tr. 150-196), injected various claims of negligence which were not supported by actual evidence and which created hope-



less confusion on issues submitted to the jury, giving rise to numerous prejudicial errors.

The case was first tried before the Honorable R. L. Tuckett, resulting in a hung jury. It was again tried before the Honorable Joseph E. Nelson, beginning May 15, 1950, resulting in a verdict in plaintiffs' favor in the amount of \$24,000.00 (Tr. 261). Defendants promptly filed a motion for a directed verdict, notwithstanding the verdict, and a notice and motion for a new trial (Tr. 254-5). This motion filed May 29, 1950, was taken under advisement until the trial court finally denied such motions November 15, 1950. Notice of appeal to this court was duly filed and perfected (D. 267).

## II.

### STATEMENT OF POINTS

1. Defendants' motion for a directed verdict should have been granted on at least three grounds, namely:

(a) The collision was proximately caused or proximately contributed to by *deceased's own negligence*.

(b) Plaintiffs failed to prove that *deceased was traveling north* as claimed and alleged or any facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action.

(c) Plaintiffs failed to prove or establish *proximate cause* and the verdict necessarily rests on speculation and conjecture.

2. The court erred in instructing the jury, such errors being initiated by the improper requested instructions of plaintiffs, and in refusing defendants' requested instructions, as follows:

(a) The court erred in giving its instruction No. 13 (Tr. 233), improperly defining the duty of defendants and requiring a *“constant lookout not only ahead but to the sides of his vehicle.”*

(b) The court erred in giving its instructions Nos. 14 and 15 (Tr. 234, 5), requiring defendants absolutely *“to prevent or avoid colliding with any person, vehicle or other conveyance,”* regardless of circumstances.

(c) The court erred in refusing to give defendants’ requested instructions Nos. 16 and 17 (Tr. 213, 4) in explanation of any speed as constituting or not constituting a proximate cause.

(d) The court erred in giving its instructions No. 6 (Tr. 226) and No. 9 (Tr. 229) and in *placing too much emphasis on so-called presumptions and inferences not warranted by the evidence*, and in refusing defendants’ requested instructions No. 7 (Tr. 204) and No. 19 (Tr. 216) in explanation of the effect of actual evidence as overcoming any presumption of due care.

(e) The court erred in giving its instruction No. 1 (Tr. 219-21) submitting all allegations *unsupported by evidence*.

(f) The court erred in giving instructions *as mere abstract statements of law without application to the facts and circumstances*, such as court’s instructions Nos. 17, 18 and 19 (Tr. 237-9) and wrongfully denying defendants’ requested instructions No. 5 (Tr. 202) No. 8 (Tr. 205) No. 9 (Tr. 206), No. 10 (Tr. 207) and No. 11 (Tr. 208) in explanation of contributory negligence and certain statutory and legal duties of deceased.

3. Plaintiffs’ counsel, through his own client, a witness Carol Ellis, wrongfully injected insurance indemnification.

4. The court erred in denying defendants' motion for a new trial when the verdict was not only against the great weight of the evidence but was contrary to and against the evidence and when there was prejudicial errors denying defendants a fair trial.

### III.

## EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENT

### 1. DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT.

Defendants' motion for a directed verdict was duly made both at the close of the evidence (Tr. 453-4) and after verdict (Tr. 254) as permitted under Rule 50(b) U.R.C.P., the reasons and grounds specifically enumerated (Tr. 453-4) are above and hereafter stated under subheadings (a), (b) and (c). This matter necessitates a summary of the evidence relating to the manner in which the accident occurred. To assist in visualizing the surroundings and accident, we have inserted herein a reproduction of the map, plaintiffs' "Exhibit GG" which should be considered with the testimony of the various witnesses.



## WITNESSES

In explanation of the witnesses near enough to have seen the accident we should mention that three of them, John Martin McPhee, Irma McPhee, his wife, and an elderly gentleman, Elmer M. Roberts, were walking from Lou's Place to the McPhee residence, a short distance south on the west side of the highway. Claudius E. Stevenson and Carol Ellis were riding in the passenger car in the west lane of traffic following the Plymouth driven by deceased. Clifford Beardall and Ernest L. Holt were riding in one of the first, if not the first car, to arrive at the scene of the accident from the north. It is clear that those of the foregoing mentioned who actually saw the accident observed deceased proceeding south near the west edge of the highway, and his attempted turn to the left immediately in front of defendants' truck as it was about to pass. In quoting testimony, we have referred to the pages as numbered by the court reporter.

CLAUDIUS E. STEVENSON, driver of the passenger car immediately following the blue Plymouth driven by deceased, testified that he followed the Plymouth from the intersection at Seventh East and U. S. Highway 91 to the scene of the accident (Tr. 380-1). Because his attention was momentarily attracted to the three people above mentioned who were walking on the side of the road, he did not see the actual impact. However he testified that defendant's truck passed him just before the accident; that he observed deceased's car 75 to 100 yards ahead of him just before the impact;



that immediately after the impact, he observed defendant's truck and trailer sliding across the highway to the east and observed that the Plymouth had disappeared from its former position, later identifying it on the east side of the road as the car involved in the wreck. He saw no northbound cars whatsoever. We quote:

“Q. Could you estimate the distance that this car was ahead of you?

A. I tried to keep you behind the car because of conditions on the road, and I tried to keep, oh, seventy-five yards to a hundred yards behind him.

Q. Which lane of traffic were you traveling in?

A. I was as close to the shoulder as I dared to get. The snow was piled quite high, and I was in the section that was fairly well worn, about three feet away from the pile of snow out there.

Q. What lane of traffic was this car (Tuttle car) which was proceeding you traveling in?

A. In the same lane.

Q. About how fast were you going as you went along?

A. Thirty to thirty-five miles an hour.

Q. When you got near the vicinity of Lou's Place, did anything unusual occur?

\* \* \* \*

A. I was attracted by the honking of a horn.

Q. Where was that honking coming from? (Tr. 381)

A. From behind me.



Q. And did you see the kind of vehicle that approached you at that time?

A. I was overtaken by a large truck.

\* \* \* \*

A. As he passed me the back of the truck was throwing up a rolling cloud of snow. Almost blinded me.

Q. Go ahead.

A. Well, when the snow started to clear I could see some people walking on the side of the road.

Q. Which side of the road was that?

A. That would be on the west side of the road, and my attention was attracted to them because I was pretty close to them, pretty close to the snowbank, and I looked up and saw this truck starting to slide.

Q. Which way was the truck sliding?

A. It started to slide down the highway and gradually turned, the whole truck, and the cab part of the truck and trailer started to turn sideways across the road with a sliding motion across the highway to the east.

Q. Did you see the truck come to a stop over there?

A. Yes. (Tr. 282)

Q. At the time you noticed the truck, or just prior to that time, did you see the lights of any northbound traffic?

A. Not that I recall.

\* \* \* \*

Q. Were there any other cars around there at

that time, besides your car and the two vehicles that had been in this collision?

A. Not that I saw. (Tr. 383).

Q. Now I show you what has been marked Defendant's Exhibit "3."

Q. From what you saw do you know whether or not the car which you were following was the car which was involved in the accident (Tr. 384) with the truck?

A. At the time I assumed—All my conclusions were that that was the car, because I didn't see it any further.

Q. That conclusion was based on what you saw?

A. That is right.

Q. At that time?

A. At that time.

Q. I show you plaintiff's Exhibit "B," showing an automobile and ask you if you recognize that photograph? (Handing to witness.)

A. Yes.

Q. And what is the car that appears in that photograph?

A. That apparently is a picture of the car that was involved. (Tr. 385)

\* \* \* \*

Q. Did any other cars ever get between that car \*(Tuttle car) and your car from the time you followed it until the accident occurred?

A. No. There was very little passing being done that night, and no one came in between us. (Tr. 411)

Q. Did you see anyone around either of those

vehicles prior to the time that you got out of your car?

A. I got out of my car just as the first people started to approach. (Tr. 412)''

(Insertions in parentheses ours)

Mr. and Mrs. McPhie and Mr. Roberts explained that at the time of the accident they were walking along the west shoulder near the snow bank, returning from Lou's Place to the McPhie's residence a short distance south, both places being on the west side of the highway.

MRS. McPHIE testified:

“Q. And where were you when the—when your attention was first attracted to either of these vehicles?

A. Just a little north of our home on the highway. (Tr. 329)

Q. What were you doing at that time?

A. We were walking south toward our home.

Q. Who was with you?

A. Mr. Elmer Roberts, my husband and myself.

Q. Now which side of the highway were you on?

A. We were on the west side.

Q. Was there a snowbank on either side of the highway?

A. Yes, there was.

Q. Where were you walking, with reference to this snowbank?

A. Well, close to the snowbank as possible.

Q. Did anything occur about the time that you were there which directed your attention to

- either of the vehicles involved in the accident?
- A. Well, we heard a sounding of a horn.
- Q. And then what did you do?
- A. Well, I turned to see if it was honking at us.
- Q. What did you see when you turned around?
- A. It was passing a car about opposite of Lou's. It was a truck honking.
- Q. And did you see any other cars at about that time?
- A. Yes, there was one passing us about that time.
- Q. And in which lane were these two cars traveling?
- A. The two cars were on the west lane furthest west.
- Q. Which lane was the truck traveling in?
- A. Seemed to be on the inside west lane.
- Q. Tell the jury in your own words just what happened.
- A. Well, we turned to see if it was honking at us, and it wasn't (Tr. 330) so we proceeded on south, and the car passing us at that time was slowing down and our attention—my attention seemed to go on it because I thought perhaps it might be stopping at my home, and a truck passed and it continued to sound its horn, and just a little beyond my home the car turned directly in front of the truck, and they seemed to throw up some snow then and go to the southeast side of the road, or to the east side, would be traveling southeast, and came to a stop there.
- Q. Then what did you do?
- A. Well, I went directly to the scene of the acci-

dent and my husband went in my home—in our home to call the police. (Tr. 331)

Q. At the time you observed the two vehicles come together, did you see whether or not there were any other cars coming from the south at that time and traveling north?

A. No, there wasn't any that I observed. (Tr. 333)

Q. With reference to your home, about where were you standing at the time this happened?

A. Well, it would be about a fourth of the way to Lou's, or half way between a road that takes—that goes west off from the highway, between a road that—there is a road that goes west between our place and Lou's, and we were standing between the road and our home, about half way.

Q. Now did you observe this car which was farther south just before the impact, as to whether or not any signals were made of any kind to indicate an intention to turn?

A. No, I didn't see any. Just slowing.

Q. Did you see any stoplights come on?

A. No. (Tr. 334)

Q. And how far did the lead car travel after it began to turn until the point of impact, if you have a judgment?

A. Well, when the truck was about twenty or twenty-five feet in back of it it turned suddenly in front of the truck. (Tr. 350)

Q. But I thought you said it turned out to the right?

A. It had been turning to the right going rather slow.

- Q. I see. And how far from the point of impact did the car begin to turn to the right?
- A. Oh, maybe thirty-five or forty feet.
- Q. About thirty-five or forty feet from the point of impact; is that right?
- A. Yes. About in front of my home.
- Q. All right. You say it would be about the width of this room then?
- A. Yes, or just a little more. (Tr. 351)''

JOHN MARTIN McPHIE testified:

- “Q. Now I call your attention again to that night. Where were you when you first became aware there was—first put on notice that something unusual was going to happen, or was happening at that time? (Tr. 355)
- A. Well, we was about halfway between my place and a little crossing, crossroad there, not a crossroad but a lane there.
- Q. When you say “we,” who was with you?
- A. Mr. Roberts and my wife and myself.
- Q. Now did you hear anything unusual at that time?
- A. Yes, the sounding of a horn.
- Q. Where did that sound come from?
- A. Right around Lou’s Place. Right close to Lou’s little cabaret out there. Beer joint.
- Q. Lou’s Place is north of your place?
- A. Yes.
- Q. What did you do when you heard this sounding of the horn? Say what you did.
- A. Well, I just edged over.



- Q. Edged over where?
- A. Towards the bank of the snowbank.
- Q. Did you see what vehicle was sounding this horn?
- A. Yes, it was a truck.
- Q. Where was the truck at that time?
- A. Just coming up by Lou's, from Lou's Place towards—going south.
- Q. What direction was the truck going in at that time?
- A. Going south.
- Q. Did you observe any other vehicles at that time?
- A. Yes. There was—He was passing one and there was one passing us at this—just passing us at that time.
- Q. How many vehicles did you see altogether at that time in that vicinity? (Tr. 356)
- A. A truck and two cars.
- Q. Can you tell us in which lane the two cars were traveling when you observed them?
- A. They were both in the outside lane.
- Q. Could you see where the truck was coming?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Can you tell us about where the truck was from the west edge of the concrete driving surface?
- A. On the west lane. Second lane over.
- Q. After you edged over to the snowbank, then what did you do?
- A. I noticed another car I thought was going to

stop at my house, my place. Instead of that he went up a little further and made a turn.

Q. Where was the truck when he made that turn?

A. He was about even with us, a little past us, and the other (Tr. 357) car was by us at that time.

Q. Tell the Jury in your own words what you saw at that time.

. It just pulled over in front of the truck and the truck collided with him. The other car (second or last car) (explanation in parentheses ours) pulled up by my place and stopped just a little beyond my place on the other side of the driveway.

Q. What happened after that?

A. Right around Lou's Place.

A. I broke and run for the phone. (Tr. 358)

Q. Did you observe whether or not this front car, or the car farther south, gave any indications of his intention to make a turn?

A. Never give no signals at all. (Tr. 359)

Q. Well, about how far off the hard surface did he drive to the right?

A. From my place, right about in here is where he made that turn.

Q. How far to the right of the hard surface did he drive?

A. Just off to the cement there is about all. (Tr. 364)

Q. Was the truck about on the center of the highway when you claimed the impact occurred?

A. Near as I could tell, yes. Passing a car.

Q. So part of the truck was over on the east side?

A. I wouldn't say that, no. (Tr. 365)

Q. I see, and you heard the truck honking back here in Lou's vicinity? (indicating).

Q. Whether it was north or not you don't know?

A. I know where it—It was coming from the north.

Q. You don't know how far north of Lou's?

A. Right around Lou's Place.

Q. Could it have been north of Lou's Place?

A. A little. Not much.

Q. And from that time on, while that car was traveling almost a thousand feet, it had its horn constantly down? (Tr. 369)

A. That's right.

Q. Didn't it?

A. Yes.

Q. And it didn't let up until the impact?

A. Until the impact, when I went in the house.

Q. And during that time the road was unobstructed, you say, to the east, and the truck had plenty of room during all that time except immediately before the accident, when you say the car turned?

A. Yes. (Tr. 370)

A. No cars coming from Springville. From the south. (Tr. 371)''

HEATH H. CORNETTE testified:

“Q. Now at that time did you observe any vehicles proceeding south ahead of you?

- A. I did.
- Q. And how many did you see at that time?
- A. Well, there was two of them. The one I passed and this one I was attempting to pass were the only cars in the vicinity.
- Q. Where was the vehicle which was nearest to you, that is the car farthest north, with reference to Lou's Place, at about the time you passed it?
- A. Well, it was the first car north.

\* \* \* \*

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