1951

# Marcella Jensen Tuttle and Richard Dale Tuttle v. Pacific Intermountain Express and Heath H. Cornette : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

## I. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The record establishes that Dale Tuttle was a young man of splendid habits. At the time of his death he was twenty-one years of age (Tr. 173). After being discharged from the Navy, he married the plaintiff, Marcella Jensen Tuttle, whom he had known in junior high school before the war (Tr. 84). He had a good job and steady income which he devoted to family purposes (Tr. 186). At the time of his death, his wife was about four months pregnant (Tr. 187). The baby was born before the time of the trial—a boy, in the custody of, and supported by, Marcella (Tr. 187).

On the evening of January 15th, 1949, Dale Tuttle, who had had supper with his wife and her folks in Springville, left home at 8:30 p.m. for the purpose of going to Provo to take part in a bowling match. The time he left is fixed positively by various witnesses, and there was no evidence adduced to the contrary (Tr. 145, 154, 177, 183, 189). From the deceased's home to the point of the collision is 3.7 miles (Tr. 159). The night was cold, and the roads were exceedingly slick (Tr. 111, 164, 242, 395). It

was during the worst part of the most severe winter experienced in this section for many years—the winter of 1948-1949.

The collision happened just 5 or 6 minutes after Dale Tuttle left his home in Springville, bound for Provo to the north, being at 8:35 or 8:36 p.m. (Tr. 325-326). The speed recorder in the P. I. E. truck positively fixed the time of the collision, as did various witnesses (Tr. 325-326). The ambulance operator, who kept a time log, was called at 8:40 p.m., some 5 minutes after the crash (Tr. 193).

Immediately preceding 8:35 p.m., as shown by the automatic recorder in the P. I. E. truck (Plaintiffs' Ex. 16, Tr. 314) and by numerous witnesses, the defendant driver was operating his heavy equipment southward along Springville Road at a speed in excess of 50 miles per hour (Tr. 26, 35, 46, 80, 111, 279, 280, 326, 408), with his horn held down almost constantly (Tr. 31, 35, 44, 51, 79, 395), flashing his lights on low and high beam (Tr. 261) and he passed the Roberts car, the Payne car, the Stevenson car and finally the Holt-Beardall car shortly before the collision in question, causing strong wind and throwing up swirls of snow which interfered with the vision of the other drivers (Tr. 26, 35, 44, 382, 422). The evidence also shows that as he made a slight curve in the road shortly before the scene of the collision, he passed from the center line of the highway onto his left, or wrong, side and about that time, apparently lost control of his truck which went into a skid (Tr. 58, 136, 137).

The witnesses, Beardall and Holt, the latter an employee of the State Tax Commission (Tr. 134) were driving south and were passed by the defendants' truck almost immediately before the collision (Tr. 113, 137). There were

no cars proceeding south ahead of the Holt-Beardall car (Tr. 113, 135), but there was a car coming north toward them shortly before the truck passed them, which could have been only the Tuttle car (Tr. 136). Just after the truck passed the Holt-Beardall car, leaving a swirl of snow in its wake and interfering with their vision, there was a flash up ahead, the electric light wires over the road fell down and Beardall, the driver, had difficulty in stopping just short of the wires which were going down across the road (Tr. 113, 137). Beardall backed his car across the road to the east (Tr. 114, 137).

Beardall and Holt first saw the truck over on the east side of the road and a passenger car, later identified as the Tuttle car, north and farther east from it. There were no other cars in that vicinity and the Beardall-Holt car was the first at the scene of the accident. Beardall, on the east side of the highway, threw his headlights on the wrecked car, and Holt and Beardall got out to try to help (Tr. 114, 137). Their car was seen on the east side by a number of witnesses, and they were identified by others as being there when they came up (Tr. 36, 37, 97, 423, 424). Shortly after Holt and Beardall pulled their car over to the east side of the highway, Mrs. Ellis and Mr. Stevenson drove up to the wires in a car driven by the latter (Tr. 97, 116). Because they were conscious of another car being ahead of them proceeding south (the Holt-Beardall car), and because there was no other car on the right-hand, or west, side of the road when they drove up, they concluded that the car involved in the accident was the car which had been in front of them, not noticing at the time the Holt-Beardall car over on the east side of the highway (Tr. 92, 107, 409). They so mentioned their impression to the officer in the

immediate presence of the truck driver, and on this mistaken impression the defense of the defendants is based—that the passenger car involved in the crash was going south (Tr. 240, 241).

The investigating officer based his preliminary investigation on such mistaken impression, but when he had an opportunity of learning all the facts, he changed his report to show that the Tuttle car was proceeding north (Tr. 241). The investigator for the defendant company joined the driver at the home of the impressionable McPhies (Tr. 306) who also subscribed to this erroneous impression, and the truck driver, the McPhies and the investigator must have spent some time together. The investigator took statements from various witnesses in his own handwriting in which he omitted many things which were told him that appeared favorable to the deceased (Tr. 81, 105, 429, 432).

In the meantime, Tuttle's folks, who knew the direction in which he was proceeding, and Holt and Beardall, who knew he was not driving south, were at the hospital. Holt and Beardall, as soon as Tuttle was identified, left the scene to notify his wife of the tragedy. It was only after the investigating officer at the hospital was able to talk to Holt and Beardall that he obtained the truth as to the direction the Tuttle car was going, and he then changed his report to show that it was going north (Tr. 240, 241, 254).

Afterwards, Stevenson also indicated to Mrs. Ellis that they were mistaken in their impression that the Tuttle car was the one in front of them going south (Tr. 107), and Mrs. Ellis positively testified that the car in front of them was about a block ahead, and that her original impression was erroneous, the Holt-Beardall car being on the east side of the road (Tr. 97, 108). The testimony of Cornette, the

driver of the defendant vehicle, and that of the McPhies, who persisted in the fiction based upon Stevenson's erroneous impression, was so contradictory, unbelievable and contrary to established physical facts, that the jury could not have given any credence to it.

Since the peculiar facts in the case will dispose of most of the law arguments of defendants, we take the liberty of giving further details with specific reference to the record.

The P. I. E. driver had left his home in South Salt Lake City or Murray, Utah, and driven to the scene of the accident, a distance of 41 miles, in 1 hour and 10 minutes (Tr. 316). The gross weight of the P. I. E. outfit was between sixty and sixty-four thousand pounds (Tr. 260). The location of the accident was 3.7 miles north of Dale Tuttle's home on the main highway between Springville and Provo (Tr. 159) and was 1.6 miles south of the semaphore light at Seventh East and Third South Streets in Provo, Utah (Tr. 159) which is about 10 blocks from downtown Provo.

The evening of the collision, the P. I. E. truck passed Charles M. Roberts, one of the witnesses for the plaintiff, going south, about  $\frac{3}{4}$  of a mile north of the collision (Tr. 25). The P. I. E. truck was going at a high rate of speed (Tr. 26), was blowing its horn, and Roberts pulled off the main part of the road into a snow bank; the snow from the P. I. E. truck covered the windshield and headlights and Roberts had to get off the highway and wipe off the windshield before he could go on (Tr. 26).

Just prior to the accident, the P. I. E. truck passed Douglas Payne, another witness for the plaintiffs, who was delivering papers for The Deseret News. The truck passed Payne about a block and a half north of "Lou's Place." Payne heard a loud blast of the horn two or three times

and the truck came by, going pretty fast and blew snow and wind inside of the car (Tr. 35). The truck went up the road with a swirl of snow following the back of the truck (Tr. 36). Payne thought the truck was going about 50 miles an hour (Tr. 35). When Payne got to the scene of the accident, he saw a car parked on the east side of the road, facing south, and he parked behind it (Tr. 36, 37). This car was the Holt-Beardall car.

Dellis Elliott and his brother, Gordon, just before the collision, were standing on the road about a block north of "Lou's Place," when after sounding its horn, the P. I. E. truck passed a car just opposite Dellis, just as the car was passing (Tr. 45). There were one or two other cars fifty yards behind the car passed near Dellis Elliott (Tr. 47). At the time the truck passed Dellis Elliott, there were no other cars ahead of the truck (Tr. 51). The truck didn't honk any more after it passed Dellis Elliott (Tr. 51).

Jean Elliott, the mother of Dellis and Gordon, stated that her boys were hitchhiking a ride to Springville to go to the basketball game, and that when she heard a loud honking, she was afraid about the boys being out on the road too far. She went out on the porch of her home and saw the truck passing a car near a street light in front of their place (Tr. 54, 55, 56).

Gordon Elliott, brother of Dellis, testified that when the truck passed them, it was passing another car (Tr. 56). He testified that the truck was traveling in the middle of the road (Tr. 56), and that the truck was more to the east of the road when it passed him (Tr. 74); that it was most east of center (Tr. 74); and when it passed them, it cut across the bend in the road to the east side (Tr. 75).

Carol Ellis testified that she was riding in a car with

C. E. Stevenson the night of the collision and that they were following another car (Tr. 79). That she heard a horn blowing somewhere behind them and the truck passed them in the middle of the road going about 50 or 55 miles an hour (Tr. 80). After the truck passed them, so testified Mrs. Ellis, it started swaying (Tr. 87). She and Stevenson drove up to the wire which had fallen across the road and when they arrived at the scene of the accident, there was another car backed on the opposite (east) side of the road facing the wreck (Tr. 82). Mrs. Ellis testified that she first thought that the car they had been following was the car involved in the accident (Tr. 90), but changed her mind later when she talked to Mr. Stevenson (Tr. 107). She definitely recalled seeing a car there that night when they first arrived, but did not know whether it was the one they had been following, but she did see a car with its headlights on (Tr. 97).

Clifford Beardall, another witness for the plaintiffs, testified that the night of the accident, he was accompanied by Ernest L. Holt and was driving in the vicinity of Lou's Place when the truck passed him (Tr. 110-111) and that when it passed him, the wind caused a movement of his car (Tr. 111). He further testified that the truck was over the center of the highway (Tr. 112). Beardall testified that there was no car in front of him going south at the time the truck passed him (Tr. 113). He stopped his car about eight inches from the wires as they fell down; he immediately backed his car to the east and pulled up until his lights hit the scene of the accident (Tr. 114). At the time of his arrival, there was no one at the scene of the accident and after observing the person in the wrecked car, he went to direct traffic which was then coming both ways (Tr. 116).

Beardall further testified that he at first didn't recognize the deceased (Tr. 115) but later learned that it was Dale Tuttle (Tr. 118), and as soon as Tuttle was put into the ambulance, he went to Springville to notify his family (Tr. 120).

Ernest L. Holt, the passenger in the Beardall car, testified that the only other vehicle in front of them was one going over the Infirmary Hill towards Springville, where he could just see its tail lights (Tr. 135). Holt has been District Auditor of the Provo office of the State Tax Commission for 13 years (Tr. 134). He testified that the truck passed them near Lou's Place and when it passed them it was straddling the center line, and as it went on, it went over further to the east side of the highway (Tr. 136). He testified that just before the truck passed, there was a car coming from the south about half-way down the Infirmary Hill; after the truck passed the Beardall automobile it went over into the inside lane of the north-bound traffic and after that, there was a flash of light and he saw a wire fall across the highway and Holt called Beardall's attention to stop the car (Tr. 137). Holt testified that when they arrived at the scene of the accident and backed on the east of the highway, no one else had arrived at the scene of the accident (Tr. 136).

Holt further testified that shortly after they got over to the east side of the highway, the cars started coming but they had sufficient time to back the Beardall car over and get the lights on the wreck before any other cars approached (Tr. 136).

Elmer Roberts, a witness for the plaintiffs, who was called on plaintiffs' rebuttal, testified that he had been one of the pedestrians accompanying Mr. and Mrs. McPhie, witnesses for the defendants, and that when he ran up to

the scene of the accident, Mr. Beardall was standing out in the middle of the road, although he didn't recall seeing Mr. Beardall's automobile backed on the east, but did know that there was light on the scene of the accident and it could have been from headlights of a car (Tr. 423 and 424).

Although none of the witnesses for the plaintiffs claimed to have seen the actual impact, except for the flash of lights, their testimony was clear and convincing that there was no impact on the west side of the highway and no passenger car driving south where the impact occurred. Holt saw the car coming from the south toward the north immediately prior to the impact and that was the only car in that vicinity and could have been none other than the Tuttle car as there were no other cars there when Holt and Beardall arrived. It is true that some of the witnesses for the defendants believed that Stevenson, who was traveling south, had been following the car in which the deceased was riding, and that some of the witnesses for the defendants claimed to have seen the impact, but in examining the testimony of the witnesses who claimed to have seen the impact, it was clearly demonstrated that the collision could not have happened in the way they testified; that the witnesses were subject to false impressions and the only reasonable conclusion that could be reached by the jury was that the Tuttle automobile at the time of the impact was proceeding north.

From an examination of plaintiffs' Ex. GG, it will be seen that the point at which the Elliott boys were standing when the truck passed them was approximately 1,500 feet from the point of impact and that Lou's Place was approximately 1,000 to 1,100 feet from the point of the impact. The testimony of the Elliott boys, and particularly Dellis

Elliott, was that there was no other car in front of the car that the truck passed near the Elliott boys; thus Holt's and Beardall's testimony was fully corroborated.

## II. STATEMENT OF POINTS

We will follow the general order of treatment specified in appellants' brief, but will present our argument under the three major headings, since it is impractical in many respects to segregate the material under the sub-headings set out by appellants. We shall also consider the points concerning the denial of a directed verdict and the denial of a new trial under the same heading.

Respondents claim that:

1. Defendants' motion for a directed verdict was properly denied by the court, as was defendant's motion for a new trial.

- (a) The collision was caused by the defendants' own negligence and was not contributed to by the deceased.

- (b) The jury found from ample evidence that the deceased was traveling north, according to the theory of the plaintiffs.

- (c) Proximate cause and all other necessary elements of plaintiffs' case are fully and amply supported by the evidence.

2. The court's instructions when considered as a whole, were correct, and fully and correctly set forth the theories of both plaintiffs and defendants and the law applicable thereto, and no prejudicial error was involved in any instruction.

3. Defendants' counsel on cross-examination, himself, brought out the matter of insurance in response to his own question, and the mention of insurance was not prejudicial in any respect.

**1. Defendants' motion for a directed verdict and a new trial were properly denied.**

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